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that the Departmental unit has com-
plied with the applicable provisions of 
the Act. 

PART 15—POST EMPLOYMENT 
CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

Subpart A—General Provisions 

Sec. 
15.737–1 Scope. 
15.737–2 Definitions. 
15.737–3 Director of Practice. 
15.737–4 Other discipline. 
15.737–5 Records. 

Subpart B—Rules Applicable to Post Em-
ployment Practice by Officers and Em-
ployees of the Department 

15.737–6 Interpretative standards. 

Subpart C—Administrative Enforcement 
Proceedings 

15.737–7 Authority to prohibit practice. 
15.737–8 Special orders. 
15.737–9 Receipt of information concerning 

former Treasury employee. 
15.737–10 Conferences. 
15.737–11 Institution of proceeding. 
15.737–12 Contents of complaint. 
15.737–13 Service of complaint and other pa-

pers. 
15.737–14 Answer. 
15.737–15 Reply to answer. 
15.737–16 Proof; variance; amendment of 

pleadings. 
15.737–17 Motions and requests. 
15.737–18 Representation. 
15.737–19 Administrative Law Judge. 
15.737–20 Hearings. 
15.737–21 Evidence. 
15.737–22 Depositions. 
15.737–23 Transcript. 
15.737–24 Proposed findings and conclusions. 
15.737–25 Decision of the Administrative 

Law Judge. 
15.737–26 Appeal to the General Counsel. 
15.737–27 Decision of the General Counsel. 
15.737–28 Notice of disciplinary action. 

Subpart D—Other Departmental 
Proceedings 

15.737–29 Review by the General Counsel. 

AUTHORITY: 92 Stat. 1864 (18 U.S.C. 207), as 
amended. 

SOURCE: 45 FR 39842, June 12, 1980, unless 
otherwise noted. 

Subpart A—General Provisions 

§ 15.737–1 Scope. 

This part contains rules governing 
discipline of a former officer or em-
ployee of the Department of the Treas-
ury because of a post employment con-
flict of interest. Such discipline may 
include prohibition from practice be-
fore the Department or a separate stat-
utory agency thereof as those terms 
are defined in this part. 

§ 15.737–2 Definitions. 

For the purpose of this part—(a) The 
term Department means the Depart-
ment of the Treasury and includes the 
separate statutory agencies thereof. 

(b) The term Director means the Di-
rector of Practice. 

(c) The term General Counsel means 
the General Counsel of the Depart-
ment. 

(d) The term practice means any in-
formal or formal appearance before, or, 
with the intent to influence, any oral 
or written communication to the De-
partment or, where applicable, to a 
separate statutory agency thereof on a 
pending matter of business on behalf of 
any other person (except the United 
States). 

(e) The term separate statutory agency 
thereof means an agency or bureau 
within the Department designated by 
rule by the Director, Office of Govern-
ment Ethics, as a separate agency or 
bureau. The Internal Revenue Service, 
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Fire-
arms, United States Secret Service, 
Bureau of the Mint, United States Cus-
toms Service, Bureau of Engraving and 
Printing, and Comptroller of the Cur-
rency were so designated effective July 
1, 1979. 

§ 15.737–3 Director of Practice. 

There is, in the Office of the Sec-
retary of the Treasury, the Office of Di-
rector of Practice. The Director shall 
institute and provide for the conduct of 
disciplinary proceedings involving 
former employees of the Department as 
authorized by 18 U.S.C. 207(j), and per-
form such other duties as are necessary 
or appropriate to carry out his/her 
functions under this part. 
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§ 15.737–4 Other discipline. 

For activity alleged to violate 18 
U.S.C. 207 (a), (b) or (c), the Director 
may also bring a disciplinary pro-
ceeding pursuant to the regulations 
governing practice before the Bureau of 
Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms or the 
Internal Revenue Service as found in 31 
CFR part 8 and 31 CFR part 10, respec-
tively. Such proceeding may be con-
solidated with any proceeding brought 
pursuant to this part. 

§ 15.737–5 Records. 

There are made available to public 
inspection at the Office of Director of 
Practice the roster of all persons pro-
hibited from practice before the De-
partment. Other records may be dis-
closed upon specific request, in accord-
ance with appropriate disclosure regu-
lations of the Department. 

Subpart B—Rules Applicable to 
Post Employment Practice by 
Officers and Employees of the 
Department 

§ 15.737–6 Interpretative standards. 

A determination that a former officer 
or employee of the Department vio-
lated 18 U.S.C. 207 (a), (b) or (c) will be 
made in conformance with the stand-
ards established in the interpretative 
regulations promulgated by the Office 
of Government Ethics and published at 
5 CFR part 737. 

Subpart C—Administrative 
Enforcement Proceedings 

§ 15.737–7 Authority to prohibit prac-
tice. 

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 207(j), if the 
General Counsel finds, after notice and 
opportunity for a hearing, that a 
former officer or employee of the De-
partment violated 18 U.S.C. 207 (a), (b) 
or (c), the General Counsel in his/her 
discretion may prohibit that person 
from engaging in practice before the 
Department or a separate statutory 
agency thereof for a period not to ex-
ceed five years, or may take other ap-
propriate disciplinary action. 

§ 15.737–8 Special orders. 
The General Counsel may issue spe-

cial orders as he/she may consider 
proper in any case within the purview 
of this part. 

§ 15.737–9 Receipt of information con-
cerning former Treasury employee. 

If an officer or employee of the De-
partment has reason to believe that a 
former officer or employee of the De-
partment has violated 18 U.S.C. 207 (a), 
(b) or (c), or if any such officer or em-
ployee receives information to that ef-
fect, he/she shall promptly make a 
written report thereof, which report or 
a copy thereof shall be forwarded to 
the Inspector General, Department of 
the Treasury. If any other person has 
information of such violations, he/she 
may make a report thereof to the In-
spector General or to any officer or em-
ployee of the Department. The Inspec-
tor General shall refer any information 
he/she deems warranted to the Direc-
tor. 

§ 15.737–10 Conferences. 
(a) In general. The Director may con-

fer with a former officer or employee 
concerning allegations of misconduct 
irrespective of whether an administra-
tive disciplinary proceeding has been 
instituted against him/her. If such con-
ference results in a stipulation in con-
nection with a proceeding in which 
such person is the respondent, the stip-
ulation may be entered in the record at 
the instance of either party to the pro-
ceeding. 

(b) Voluntary suspension. A former of-
ficer or employee, in order to avoid the 
institution or conclusion of a pro-
ceeding, may offer his/her consent to 
suspension from practice before the De-
partment or a separate statutory agen-
cy thereof. The Director in his/her dis-
cretion, may suspend a former officer 
or employee in accordance with the 
consent offered. 

§ 15.737–11 Institution of proceeding. 
(a) Whenever the Director has reason 

to believe that any former officer or 
employee of the Department has vio-
lated 18 U.S.C. 207 (a), (b) or (c), he/she 
may reprimand such person or insti-
tute an administrative disciplinary 
proceeding for that person’s suspension 
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from practice before the Department or 
a separate statutory agency thereof. 
The proceeding shall be instituted by a 
complaint which names the respondent 
and is signed by the Director and filed 
in his/her office. Except in cases of 
willfulness, or where time, the nature 
of the proceeding, or the public inter-
est does not permit, a proceeding will 
not be instituted under this section 
until facts or conduct which may war-
rant such action have been called to 
the attention of the proposed respond-
ent in writing and he/she has been ac-
corded the opportunity to provide his/ 
her position on the matter. 

(b) The Director shall coordinate pro-
ceedings under this part with the De-
partment of Justice in cases where it 
initiates criminal prosecution. 

§ 15.737–12 Contents of complaint. 
(a) Charges. A complaint shall give a 

plain and concise description of the al-
legations which constitute the basis for 
the proceeding. A complaint shall be 
deemed sufficient if it fairly informs 
the respondent of the charges against 
him/her so that the respondent is able 
to prepare a defense. 

(b) Demand for answer. In the com-
plaint, or in a separate paper attached 
to the complaint, notification shall be 
given of the place and time within 
which the respondent shall file his/her 
answer, which time shall not be less 
than 15 days from the date of service of 
the complaint, and notice shall be 
given that a decision by default may be 
rendered against the respondent in the 
event he/she fails to file an answer as 
required. 

§ 15.737–13 Service of complaint and 
other papers. 

(a) Complaint. The complaint or a 
copy thereof may be served upon the 
respondent by certified mail, or first- 
class mail as hereinafter provided; by 
delivering it to the respondent or his/ 
her attorney or agent of record either 
in person or by leaving it at the office 
or place of business of the respondent, 
attorney or agent; or in any other man-
ner which has been agreed to by the re-
spondent. Where the service is by cer-
tified mail, the return post office re-
ceipt duly signed by or on behalf of the 
respondent shall be proof of service. If 

the certified mail is not claimed or ac-
cepted by the respondent and is re-
turned undelivered, complete service 
may be made upon the respondent by 
mailing the complaint to him/her by 
first-class mail, addressed to him/her 
at the last address known to the Direc-
tor. If service is made upon the re-
spondent or his/her attorney or agent 
of record in person or by leaving the 
complaint at the office or place of busi-
ness of the respondent, attorney or 
agent, the verified return by the person 
making service, setting forth the man-
ner of service, shall be proof of such 
service. 

(b) Service of papers other than com-
plaint. Any paper other than the com-
plaint may be served upon a respondent 
as provided in paragraph (a) of this sec-
tion or by mailing the paper by first- 
class mail to the respondent at the last 
address known to the Director, or by 
mailing the paper by first-class mail to 
the respondent’s attorney or agent of 
record. Such mailing shall constitute 
complete service. Notices may be 
served upon the respondent or his/her 
attorney or agent of record by tele-
graph. 

(c) Filing of papers. Whenever the fil-
ing of a paper is required or permitted 
in connection with a proceeding, and 
the place of filing is not specified by 
this subpart or by rule or order of the 
Administrative Law Judge, the paper 
shall be filed with the Director of Prac-
tice, Department of the Treasury, 
Washington, DC 20220. All papers shall 
be filed in duplicate. 

§ 15.737–14 Answer. 
(a) Filing. The respondent’s answer 

shall be filed in writing within the 
time specified in the complaint, unless 
on application the time is extended by 
the Director or the Administrative 
Law Judge. The answer shall be filed in 
duplicate with the Director. 

(b) Contents. The answer shall con-
tain a statement of facts which con-
stitute the grounds of defense, and it 
shall specifically admit or deny each 
allegation set forth in the complaint, 
except that the respondent shall not 
deny a material allegation in the com-
plaint which he/she knows to be true, 
or state that he/she is without suffi-
cient information to form a belief when 
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in fact he/she possesses such informa-
tion. The respondent may also state af-
firmatively special matters of defense. 

(c) Failure to deny or answer allega-
tions in the complaint. Every allegation 
in the complaint which is not denied in 
the answer shall be deemed to be ad-
mitted and may be considered as 
proved, and no further evidence in re-
spect of such allegation need be ad-
duced at a hearing. Failure to file an 
answer within the time prescribed in 
the notice to the respondent, except as 
the time for answer is extended by the 
Director or the Administrative Law 
Judge, shall constitute an admission of 
the allegations of the complaint and a 
waiver of hearing, and the Administra-
tive Law Judge may make his/her deci-
sion by default without a hearing or 
further procedure. 

§ 15.737–15 Reply to answer. 
No reply to the respondent’s answer 

shall be required, and new matter in 
the answer shall be deemed to be de-
nied, but the Director may file a reply 
in his/her discretion or at the request 
of the Administrative Law Judge. 

§ 15.737–16 Proof; variance; amend-
ment of pleadings. 

In the case of a variance between the 
allegations in a pleading and the evi-
dence adduced in support of the plead-
ing, the Administrative Law Judge 
may order or authorize amendment of 
the pleading to conform to the evi-
dence: Provided, That the party who 
would otherwise be prejudiced by the 
amendment is given reasonable oppor-
tunity to meet the allegations of the 
pleading as amended; and the Adminis-
trative Law Judge shall make findings 
on any issue presented by the pleadings 
as so amended. 

§ 15.737–17 Motions and requests. 
Motions and requests may be filed 

with the Director or with the Adminis-
trative Law Judge. 

§ 15.737–18 Representation. 
A respondent or proposed respondent 

may appear in person or he/she may be 
represented by counsel or other rep-
resentative. The Director may be rep-
resented by an attorney or other em-
ployee of the Department. 

§ 15.737–19 Administrative Law Judge. 
(a) Appointment. An Administrative 

Law Judge appointed as provided by 5 
U.S.C. 3105 (1966), shall conduct pro-
ceedings upon complaints for the ad-
ministrative disciplinary proceedings 
under this part. 

(b) Power of Administrative Law Judge. 
Among other powers, the Administra-
tive Law Judge shall have authority, in 
connection with any proceeding as-
signed or referred to him/her, to do the 
following: 

(1) Administer oaths and affirma-
tions; 

(2) Make rulings upon motions and 
requests, which rulings may not be ap-
pealed from prior to the close of a hear-
ing except, at the discretion of the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge, in extraor-
dinary circumstances; 

(3) Determine the time and place of 
hearing and regulate its course and 
conduct; 

(4) Adopt rules of procedure and mod-
ify the same from time to time as occa-
sion requires for the orderly disposi-
tion of proceedings; 

(5) Rule upon offers of proof, receive 
relevant evidence, and examine wit-
nesses; 

(6) Take or authorize the taking of 
depositions; 

(7) Receive and consider oral or writ-
ten argument on facts or law; 

(8) Hold or provide for the holding of 
conferences for the settlement or sim-
plification of the issues by consent of 
the parties; 

(9) Assess the responsible party ex-
traordinary costs attributable to the 
location of a hearing; 

(10) Perform such acts and take such 
measures as are necessary or appro-
priate to the efficient conduct of any 
proceeding; and 

(11) Make initial decisions. 

§ 15.737–20 Hearings. 
(a) In general. The Administrative 

Law Judge shall preside at the hearing 
on a complaint for the suspension of a 
former officer or employee from prac-
tice before the Department. Hearings 
shall be stenographically recorded and 
transcribed and the testimony of wit-
nesses shall be taken under oath or af-
firmation. Hearings will be conducted 
pursuant to 5 U.S.C. 556. 
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(b) Public access to hearings. Hearings 
will be closed unless an open hearing is 
requested by the respondent, except 
that if classified information or pro-
tected information of third parties 
(such as tax information) is likely to 
be adduced at the hearing, it will re-
main closed. A request for an open 
hearing must be included in the answer 
to be considered. 

(c) Failure to appear. If either party 
to the proceeding fails to appear at the 
hearing, after due notice thereof has 
been sent to him/her, he/she shall be 
deemed to have waived the right to a 
hearing and the Administrative Law 
Judge may make a decision against the 
absent party by default. 

§ 15.737–21 Evidence. 

(a) In general. The rules of evidence 
prevailing in courts of law and equity 
are not controlling in hearings on com-
plaints for the suspension of a former 
officer or employee from practice be-
fore the Department. However, the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge shall exclude 
evidence which is irrelevant, immate-
rial, or unduly repetitious. 

(b) Depositions. The deposition of any 
witness taken pursuant to § 15.737–22 of 
this part may be admitted. 

(c) Proof of documents. Official docu-
ments, records and papers of the De-
partment shall be admissible in evi-
dence without the production of an of-
ficer or employee to authenticate 
them. Any such documents, records, 
and papers may be evidenced by a copy 
attested or identified by an officer or 
employee of the Department. 

(d) Exhibits. If any document, record, 
or other paper is introduced in evi-
dence as an exhibit, the Administrative 
Law Judge may authorize the with-
drawal of the exhibit subject to any 
conditions which he/she deems proper. 

(e) Objections. Objections to evidence 
shall be in short form, stating the 
grounds of objection relied upon, and 
the record shall not include argument 
thereon, except as ordered by the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge. Rulings on 
such objections shall be a part of the 
record. No exception to the ruling is 
necessary to preserve the rights of the 
parties. 

§ 15.737–22 Depositions. 

Depositions for use at a hearing may, 
with the consent of the parties in writ-
ing or the written approval of the Ad-
ministrative Law Judge, be taken by 
either the Director or the respondent 
or their duly authorized representa-
tives. Depositions may be taken upon 
oral or written interrogatories, upon 
not less than 10 days’ written notice to 
the other party before any officer duly 
authorized to administer an oath for 
general purposes or before an officer or 
employee of the Department who is au-
thorized to administer an oath. Such 
notice shall state the names of the wit-
nesses and the time and place where 
the depositions are to be taken. The re-
quirement of 10 days’ notice may be 
waived by the parties in writing, and 
depositions may then be taken from 
the persons and at the times and places 
mutually agreed to by the parties. 
When a deposition is taken upon writ-
ten interrogatories, any cross-examina-
tion shall be upon written interrog-
atories. Copies of such written inter-
rogatories shall be served upon the 
other party with the notice, and copies 
of any written cross-interrogation 
shall be mailed or delivered to the op-
posing party at least 5 days before the 
date of taking the depositions, unless 
the parties mutually agree otherwise. 
A party upon whose behalf a deposition 
is taken must file it with the Adminis-
trative Law Judge and serve one copy 
upon the opposing party. Expenses in 
the reporting of depositions shall be 
borne by the party at whose instance 
the deposition is taken. 

§ 15.737–23 Transcript. 

In cases where the hearing is steno-
graphically reported by a Government 
contract reporter, copies of the tran-
script may be obtained from the re-
porter at rates not to exceed the max-
imum rates fixed by contract between 
the Government and the reporter or 
from the Department at actual cost of 
duplication. Where the hearing is 
stenographically reported by a regular 
employee of the Department, a copy 
thereof will be supplied to the respond-
ent either without charge or upon pay-
ment of a reasonable fee. Copies of ex-
hibits introducted at the hearing or at 
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the taking of depositions will be sup-
plied to the parties upon the payment 
of a reasonable fee (Sec. 501, Pub. L. 82– 
137, 65 Stat. 290 (31 U.S.C. 483a)). 

§ 15.737–24 Proposed findings and con-
clusions. 

Except in cases where the respondent 
has failed to answer the complaint or 
where a party has failed to appear at 
the hearing, the Administrative Law 
Judge prior to making his/her decision, 
shall afford the parties a reasonable op-
portunity to submit proposed findings 
and conclusions and supporting reasons 
therefor. 

§ 15.737–25 Decision of the Administra-
tive Law Judge. 

As soon as practicable after the con-
clusion of a hearing and the receipt of 
any proposed findings and conclusions 
timely submitted by the parties, the 
Administrative Law Judge shall make 
the initial decision in the case. The de-
cision shall include (a) a statement of 
findings and conclusions, as well as the 
reasons or basis therefor, upon all the 
material issues of fact, law, or discre-
tion presented on the record, and (b) an 
order of suspension from practice be-
fore the Department or separate statu-
tory agency thereof or other appro-
priate disciplinary action, or an order 
of dismissal of the complaint. The Ad-
ministrative Law Judge shall file the 
decision with the Director and shall 
transmit a copy thereof to the respond-
ent or his/her attorney of record. In the 
absence of an appeal to the General 
Counsel or review of the decision upon 
motion of the General Counsel, the de-
cision of the Administrative Law Judge 
shall without further proceedings be-
come the decision of the General Coun-
sel 30 days from the date of the Admin-
istrative Law Judge’s decision. 

§ 15.737–26 Appeal to the General 
Counsel. 

Within 30 days from the date of the 
Administrative Law Judge’s decision, 
either party may appeal to the General 
Counsel. The appeal shall be filed with 
the Director in duplicate and shall in-
clude exceptions to the decision of the 
Administrative Law Judge and sup-
porting reasons for such exceptions. If 
an appeal is filed by the Director, he/ 

she shall transmit a copy thereof to 
the respondent. Within 30 days after re-
ceipt of an appeal or copy thereof, the 
other party may file a reply brief in du-
plicate with the Director. If the reply 
brief is filed by the Director, he/she 
shall transmit a copy of it to the re-
spondent. Upon the filing of an appeal 
and a reply brief, if any, the Director 
shall transmit the entire record to the 
General Counsel. 

§ 15.737–27 Decision of the General 
Counsel. 

On appeal from or review of the ini-
tial decision of the Administrative Law 
Judge, the General Counsel will make 
the agency decision. In making his/her 
decision, the General Counsel will re-
view the record or such portions there-
of as may be cited by the parties to 
permit limiting of the issues. A copy of 
the General Counsel’s decision shall be 
transmitted to the respondent by the 
Director. 

§ 15.737–28 Notice of disciplinary ac-
tion. 

(a) Upon the issuance of a final order 
suspending a former officer or em-
ployee from practice before the Depart-
ment or a separate statutory agency 
thereof, the Director shall give notice 
thereof to appropriate officers and em-
ployees of the Department. Officers and 
employees of the Department shall 
refuse to participate in any appearance 
by such former officer or employee or 
to accept any communication which 
constitutes the prohibited practice be-
fore the Department or separate statu-
tory agency thereof during the period 
of suspension. 

(b) The Director shall take other ap-
propriate disciplinary action as may be 
required by the final order. 

Subpart D—Other Departmental 
Proceedings 

§ 15.737–29 Review by the General 
Counsel. 

In my proceeding before the Depart-
ment, if an initial decision is made 
with respect to the disqualification of a 
representative or attorney for a party 
on the grounds of 18 U.S.C. 207(a), (b) or 
(c), such decision may be appealed to 
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the General Counsel, who will make 
the agency decision on the issue. 

PART 16—REGULATIONS IMPLE-
MENTING THE PROGRAM FRAUD 
CIVIL REMEDIES ACT OF 1986 

Sec. 
16.1 Basis and purpose. 
16.2 Definitions. 
16.3 Basis for civil penalties and assess-

ments. 
16.4 Investigation. 
16.5 Review by the reviewing official. 
16.6 Prerequisites for issuing a complaint. 
16.7 Complaint. 
16.8 Service of complaint. 
16.9 Answer. 
16.10 Default upon failure to file an answer. 
16.11 Referral of complaint and answer to 

the ALJ. 
16.12 Notice of hearing. 
16.13 Parties to the hearing. 
16.14 Separation of functions. 
16.15 Ex parte contacts. 
16.16 Disqualification of reviewing official 

or ALJ. 
16.17 Rights of parties. 
16.18 Authority of the ALJ. 
16.19 Prehearing conferences. 
16.20 Disclosure of documents. 
16.21 Discovery. 
16.22 Exchange of witness lists, statements, 

and exhibits. 
16.23 Subpoenas for attendance at hearing. 
16.24 Protective order. 
16.25 Fees. 
16.26 Form, filing and service of papers. 
16.27 Computation of time. 
16.28 Motions. 
16.29 Sanctions. 
16.30 The hearing and burden of proof. 
16.31 Determining the amount of penalties 

and assessments. 
16.32 Location of hearing. 
16.33 Witnesses. 
16.34 Evidence. 
16.35 The record. 
16.36 Post-hearing briefs. 
16.37 Initial decision. 
16.38 Reconsideration of initial decision. 
16.39 Appeal to authority head. 
16.40 Stays ordered by the Department of 

Justice. 
16.41 Stay pending appeal. 
16.42 Judicial review. 
16.43 Collection of civil penalties and as-

sessments. 
16.44 Right to administrative offset. 
16.45 Deposit in Treasury of United States. 
16.46 Compromise or settlement. 
16.47 Limitations. 

AUTHORITY: 31 U.S.C. 3801–3812. 

SOURCE: 52 FR 35071, Sept. 17, 1987, unless 
otherwise noted. 

§ 16.1 Basis and purpose. 

(a) Basis. This part implements the 
Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 
1986, Pub. L. 99–509, sections 6101–6104, 
100 Stat. 1874 (October 21, 1986), to be 
codified at 31 U.S.C. 3801–3812. 31 U.S.C. 
3809 requires each authority head to 
promulgate regulations necessary to 
implement the provisions of the stat-
ute. 

(b) Purpose. This part 
(1) Establishes administrative proce-

dures for imposing civil penalties and 
assessments against persons who make, 
submit, or present, or cause to be 
made, submitted, or presented, false, 
fictitious, or fraudulent claims or writ-
ten statements to authorities or to 
their agents, and 

(2) Specifies the hearing and appeal 
rights of persons subject to allegations 
of liability for such penalties and as-
sessments. 

§ 16.2 Definitions. 
ALJ means an Administrative Law 

Judge in the authority appointed pur-
suant to 5 U.S.C. 3105 or detailed to the 
authority pursuant to 5 U.S.C. 3344. 

Authority means the Department of 
the Treasury. 

Authority head means the Assistant 
Secretary of the Treasury for Manage-
ment. 

Benefit, when used in the context of 
false statements made with respect to 
a benefit, means anything of value in-
cluding but not limited to any advan-
tage, preference, privilege, license, per-
mit, favorable decision, ruling, status, 
or loan guarantee. This definition 
should be distinguished from the limi-
tations on coverage of these regula-
tions with respect to beneficiaries of 
specific benefit programs which are 
found in § 16.3(c) of this part. 

Claim means any request, demand, or 
submission— 

(a) Made to the authority for prop-
erty, services, or money (including 
money representing grants, loans, in-
surance, or benefits); 

(b) Made to a recipient of property, 
services, or money from the authority 
or to a party to a contract with the au-
thority— 

(1) For property or services if the 
United States— 
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